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JAMES ABBOTT WHISTLER (JEMIE) 

James Whistler (see Images 24–29), the child and adolescent, nine 

to fourteen years old, suffered from poor health. In July of 1843, when 

Anna Whistler (see Images 1–5) was attending a wedding in Geneva, 

New York, she received the news that James, left in Stonington, was 

close to death, this on the eve of their departure for St. Petersburg.1 He 

had had an attack of rheumatic fever. In St. Petersburg, he battled many 

colds and sometimes made himself sick by foolishly getting wet in winter. 

But rheumatic fever was his personal scourge. The pain of an attack was 

excruciating. It caused a nervous irritability, which weakened him,2 and 

“however he [might] suffer pain … his nervous debility magnified it.”3 

He would become hysterical. Even when it was alleviated, he “could not 

be touched without screaming for days after.”4 In April 1844, he had a 

brief attack that made Anna Whistler think there was going to be a repeat 

of July 1843.5 He did in fact have two further serious bouts of rheumatic 

fever in St. Petersburg. In 1847, it confined him to his bed for nine 

weeks. In 1848, he had had it for a month when the cholera outbreak 

created a further danger.6 In 1843, the sea voyage to Russia improved his 

health;7 in 1847, the sea air of Scarborough (see Image 463) and jaunts 

in rural Lancashire (see Images 462, 465–466) restored him to health 

again;8 in 1848, despite the sea air of the Isle of Wight (see Images 489–

496), he remained frail. His failure to fully recover prompted Anna 

Whistler’s decision to leave him in England. Consideration for his 

delicate health was always paramount. 

He was beautiful to look at.9 Maxwell was struck by the beauty of 

both James and Willie (see Images 24–30) on first seeing them at the 

customs house in St. Petersburg.10 Dessain’s portrait of them confirms 

this assessment (see Image 27).11 Others reacted only to James, perhaps 

because of the vivacity that accompanied his beauty. Dr. Thomas 

Whitaker of Kirkby Lonsdale, who had no children of his own, was 

drawn to him,12 as was “Lady D” on the Isle of Wight, who said “his was 

a countenance never to be forgotten.”13 Mrs. Ropes spoke of him as 

luminous (“that bright boy”).14 The exquisite pencil portrait of him – a 
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curly-headed boy with “a gentle, elfin face” – drawn in 1845 or 1846 by 

an unidentified artist is proof of the women’s words (see Image 26).15 

In temperament he was high-strung, 16  sensitive, excitable, 

impatient, cheerful, undisciplined, indolent, careless, and a 

procrastinator. Anna Whistler felt that he had inherited his excitability 

from the McNeill side of the family.17 He was exuberant and noisy, 

joined in many of these moments by Willie. Maxwell, who took them to 

Admiralty Square at Shrovetide, pompously described their antics among 

the silent Russian crowds as American spiritedness.18 But compared by 

their mother to “little Russian children” and to English boys, they were 

decidedly inferior in their manners. She felt they would “have both 

pleasure & profit in such companions as the Druries.”19 

James’s impatience was another aspect of his excitability. When 

news came of the arrival of Aunt Alicia (see Image 39) in St. Petersburg, 

he wanted to rush out of the yard to the customs house before the 

carriage was ready. When he heard that an estate they saw on the 

Peterhof Road belonged to young Count Stroganov’s father, he 

immediately wanted to visit them. He was not present when his mother 

attended the feast Count Kushelev (see Image 302) gave for his peasants, 

but would probably have reacted again with great excitement when 

young Count Stroganov (see Image 299) was pointed out among the 

guests. 

His extensive hero-worship – of John Stevenson Maxwell, William 

Hooper Ropes, George Henry Prince, Dr. Thomas Whitaker, Carl 

Hedenschoug, Aleksandr Koritskii (see Images 167–170), and William 

Boxall (see Image 209) – was also highly enthusiastic. 

A calmer aspect of his excitability was the “unbounded 

cheerfulness” with which he was blessed.20 He was blessed as well by “an 

elasticity of spirits,” had “a contented temper,” was “so grateful for every 

kindness,” “scarcely ever expressed a complaint,” and was “free from 

envy.”21 Bedridden, he expressed no jealousy when Willie went alone to 

children’s parties or to Carnival. Kept at Monsieur Jourdan’s school until 

5:30 as a punishment, he would not allow Willie to wait there for him, 

but insisted he go home without him at 2 p.m., their usual time of release 

on Saturday. He willingly gave up even his favorite pastime of drawing 

when sick, acknowledging that it might cause further injury to his health. 
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He found it “‘first rate’ to be among fifty other boys”22 at Monsieur 

Jourdan’s school and was not homesick like Willie. His father said that 

“boys – and especially boys like James, are happier at school – than in a 

family – the only reason … for preferring the family is, if it in any way 

be thought better for his health.”23 But one had to be careful not to 

suggest that such a temperament meant lesser love of home. Anna 

Whistler reduced James to tears when she made the mistake of saying to 

him that he could not know what the homesick Willie felt. 

His parents cautioned him not to exert himself in his studies lest he 

fall sick, but they also urged him to improve his habits of study and carry 

all efforts through to the end,24 “not to be a butterfly sporting about 

from one temptation to idleness to another.”25 This gave him a mixed 

message and supported his bad habits. 

James frequently exhibited manly behavior, which always impressed 

his mother. For example, during the outdoor festivities celebrating the 

return of Empress Aleksandra Fyodorovna (see Images 420, 424) from 

Palermo (see Image 98), he persuaded his mother to go into the streets 

with him as her protector. His conduct pleased her more than the 

spectacle.26 

James loved to talk. He talked a great deal27 and asked a great many 

questions. His “eagerness to attain all his desires for information & his 

fearlessness, often ma[d]e him offend [his parents] because [they] love[d] 

him too tenaciously to be reconciled to his appearing less amiable than 

he is.”28 The seeming rudeness of his insistence for answers embarrassed 

them when non-family members were present, but some visitors found 

his manner amusing rather than troublesome. Similarly, in making 

comments as he looked at an art book, he demanded that he have an 

audience for his remarks. Anna Whistler complied, especially when he 

was ill and isolated from others, giving him her undivided attention.29 

He was undisciplined, indolent, and a procrastinator. He read in bed 

under the covers long after he was supposed to be asleep and had to be 

removed to his mother’s room. He failed to prepare his drawings for the 

Academy and was forced sometimes to do his assignments seated by his 

mother’s desk. Even Miss McMaster, the Wood children’s governess, 

talked to him “playfully … about his better application to study and 

greater perseverance in cultivating his talent for drawing.” 30  Mr. 
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Eastwick (see Image 233) felt “it would be of service to James if he was 

put under a pretty rigid master for a year or two, [as he] is too much 

inclined to play for a boy of his age and requires checking.” He assessed 

James as “a very clever boy who may be made of great service to the 

world.” 31  James was unconcerned about conforming to institutional 

rules. After presenting his recitation at Monsieur Jourdan’s, he ambled 

back to his desk chatting to classmates along the way and was kept after 

school. His parents’ letters to him in England show they were aghast at 

the late hours he kept at Mr. Phillott’s school, so injurious to his health; 

they warned of placing him elsewhere.32 They were not amused that he 

had engaged in painting scenery for a private theatrical.33 He failed to be 

the exemplary young Christian his mother hoped he would be, 34 

although he wrote her to send him some prayers.35 His parents were 

deeply disappointed that in England he was drinking wine after having 

taken a temperance vow. 36  He pled as his justification the social 

embarrassment he felt at being different from the other boys. 37 His 

mother characterized his general lax behavior by calling him a 

“saunterer” and likening him to Adeodatus in The Dark Mirror, who “was 

bright and joyous, and thus tempted to wish to revel among the world’s 

charms, but whenever reminded of duty … tried to keep the straight path, 

and would make no turnings from it – which was the more remarkable, 

for he delighted in the flowers of the broad road, and required repeated 

warning!” 38  After her husband’s death, Anna Whistler refused Dr. 

Palmer’s proposal that she and the boys settle in Stonington. She felt she 

had to have the “courage to look for a home among strangers,” as “New 

York, or Baltimore” would present “too much distraction for an 

excitable lad like Jamie,” who was “very much the votary of novelty.” 

She felt that “only [her] greatest precaution [could] ever confine his 

attention to the cultivation of his mind for the coming 4 or 5 years.”39 

Anna Whistler thought that James had inherited all his faults from her: 

if both of them “could take time to think before [they] act, or speak, how 

much mortification [they] should save both” the Major and themselves.40 

*    *    * 

Both parents viewed James’s choice of a profession in terms of its 

usefulness rather than his passion for it. Major Whistler thought that 
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James “could be most useful” in the profession of “Engineer and 

Architect.” He felt that James’s “natural inclination or taste for the fine 

arts – if … not allowed to become too poetical, [would] certainly be of 

much service to [him] in any profession connected with arts and 

sciences.” He urged him to “cultivate now as an artist … an acquaintance 

with, and a taste for works of art – useful works,” assuring him that later 

“the study of sciences with a view to a practical application of such works 

will be a delight instead of a task to you.”41 He encouraged James to 

express his opinion on the works of art he saw, but he did not want him 

to be an artist. His mother seconded his father’s thoughts, pointing out 

that, although he, too, had once wanted to be an artist, he had come to 

apply “his talents … more usefully.”42 She felt that James would similarly 

“experience how much greater [his] advantage, if fancy sketches, studies 

etc. are meant for [his] hours of leisure.” Not wishing, however, to seem 

unfeeling towards her son’s aspirations, she did not close the door 

completely, asking that he simply try at this point “to enlarge his views 

by improving [his] mind first.” 

His father died soon after expressing his opinion about what 

James’s profession should be. His mother, who wanted to honor her 

husband’s wishes, took James and Willie back to the United States for 

their education and continued to hope for a time that James would “bend 

his talent to architecture,” even when he “was full of thoughts of going 

to West Point.”43 

*    *    * 

James’s ability to draw came from his father. Major Whistler had 

taught drawing at West Point. His St. Petersburg drawings of engines, 

however, had to be corrected. In criticizing James’s sketches, he felt that 

more detail was needed in them rather than less and that, as he himself 

had not seen the places James had sketched, “a few more touches would 

make them a much better illustration of what [James] had seen.”44 In his 

comments he anticipated a later critic, who assessed James’s nocturnes 

as “clever, sketchy and incomplete, like everything he has done.”45 

James’s love of beauty came from his mother, who “never [lost] a 

chance to make the impression of the beautiful on [her] mind.”46 His 

appreciation of color also came from her. The beauty of natural 
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phenomena that she described in her letters to him – “for you enjoy 

beautiful scenery”47 – he would later paint. She “delight[ed] in the glories 

of the firmament” provided by “the goodness of our Great Creator” to 

mix “exquisite delight” with earthly trials.48 James was the child and 

adolescent, ecstatic over “the beautiful dissolving views”49 closing the 

performance at the children’s theatre in St. Petersburg, taking in the fire 

of burning illuminations and bursting fireworks, the playing water of 

fountains, “the vapours overhanging the fields and woods … mak[ing] 

them look as if covered with hoarfrost,”50 the fog on the river, the 

reflection of buildings and bridges on the river and canals, the reflection 

of shadowless buildings during the white nights – unconsciously taking 

in the idea of transformation. 

Images of the Neva and the canals of St. Petersburg, the fountains 

of Peterhof, the Baltic Sea, and the Gulf of Finland dissolved in his 

memory with other images of water: the Merrimack Falls and Merrimack 

River in Lowell, Massachusetts, where he was born; the sound at 

Stonington, Connecticut, ceaselessly crashing; the Connecticut River, 

which they traveled on by sloop with their furniture during their move 

to Springfield, Massachusetts;51 the Atlantic, on whose waves he traveled 

to encounter Europe for the first time; the sound and the ocean 

encircling the Isle of Wight that he was too frail to bathe in; and the 

Thames, only glimpsed on several trips until he was left in London for 

close to a year. Later, he would fix permanently on canvas the fleeting 

life of the ephemeral and the power of natural phenomena to transform 

their surroundings, and would depict in several mediums the river, the 

sea, and the canal. 

His ability to express in writing his ideas about art also came from 

his articulate mother, who first talked to him of her impressions of 

nature, light, and color, and then put them down on paper when distance 

separated her from her son. Her insistence on “the daily morning recital” 

of scripture “equipped him … with a high literary standard, familiarity 

with good English, and a useful supply of appropriate quotations.”52 

James drew constantly. He drew in his books (see Image 166).53 The 

diaries and letters of family and friends confirm likenesses attempted or 

taken: of Maxwell; the shipboard passenger, Hindus Kissan das Beirage; 

three maids working for Elizabeth and Richard Picard; little John Picard; 
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aunts Alicia McNeill (see Image 39) and Eliza Winstanley; a monk; a 

street sweep; his niece, Annie; and others. Some portraits and drawings 

were given to the sitters; others he sent to his parents and to friends in 

letters. The Petersburg sketchbook contains some portraits, but also 

biblical subjects (see Image 14), figures from Russian life (see Image 

165), and scenes on the Isle of Wight.54 

James drew without instruction, as an amusement, until he went to 

St. Petersburg. Here, he briefly took drawing lessons at home with a 

Monsieur Vaney for a few months before the family moved to a rented 

dacha on the Peterhof Road in May 1844 for the summer. The turning 

point in his artistic life was his meeting with Sir William Allan (see Image 

320), who was brought to tea at their dacha by William Miller, a fellow 

Scotsman, on 29 June 1844. Allan’s flattering comment about James’s 

“uncommon genius,” on examining his largely untutored drawings, was 

the impetus for his first serious formal drawing lessons, both privately 

with a student of the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts and in a class at the 

Academy. But, as his parents did not want him to be an artist, to Allan’s 

concerned comment that they “not urge him beyond his inclination,” 

Anna Whistler replied that James’s drawing “had only been cultivated as 

an amusement and that [she] was obliged to interfere or his application 

would confine him more than [they] approved.” 55  The subsequent 

drawing lessons they permitted did not change their minds, although, 

having consented, they constantly urged James to apply himself. 

*    *    * 

Some time after the family’s return to the city in September 1844 – 

and probably well before 26 March / 7 April 1845 – James began to take 

private drawing lessons from Aleksandr Osipovich Koritskii (see Images 

167–170), who was both an officer in the Construction Division of the 

Main Administration of Transport and Public Buildings and an advanced 

student at the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts, where he was a protégé 

of the famed Karl Pavlovich Briullov (see Image 173). 

Koritskii (pronounced “Kahreetskee”) was twenty-six or twenty-

seven years old and James was ten. Still, Koritskii, mindful of the fact 

that he was teaching Major Whistler’s son, may have addressed James as 

Iakov Egorovich (pronounced “Yahkuff Yeegoruhveech”): i.e., James, 
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son of George. This is a mode of address used by Russian adults to one 

another in a formal relationship, but not used to children. Or perhaps 

Koritskii used James’s first name and patronymic only when speaking to 

Major and Anna Whistler about him. In any case, Anna Whistler was 

amused by Koritskii’s formality.56 As for James, we know only that in his 

letters he spoke of his teacher as “Mr. Karitzky,” and sometimes simply 

as “Karitzky,” in the latter instance as his parents did. 

It is a matter of conjecture whether Koritskii was hired for the 

purpose of tutoring James or of preparing him for entrance to the 

Academy. When James began to attend the drawing course at the 

Academy, the Whistlers kept Koritskii on. In this way, James’s class 

instruction was supplemented by a private lesson at home on Saturdays 

from someone familiar with the teaching procedures in the Academy’s 

drawing courses. 

The teaching of drawing at the Academy was divided into three 

levels, where the models were (1) drawings, engravings, and lithographs; 

(2) plaster casts; (3) and live models. The first level was divided into two 

groups: in one, the models were heads; in the other, figures. A similar 

division into two groups existed in the second level. This created five 

drawing classes, with the following numbers and titles: (1) “Drawing 

from Originals of Heads”; (2) “Drawing from Originals of Figures”; (3) 

“Drawing from Plaster Casts of Heads”; (4) “Drawing from Plaster Casts 

of Figures”; (5) “Life Drawing.”57 The Russian word “original” in this 

context means “a drawing, engraving or lithograph of outstanding 

quality, which serves as a model for others to copy.”58 

James did not meet the age requirement of fourteen for admission 

to the Academy, but it was probably waived for him because of his 

father’s important position.59 James was ten years and eight months old 

when Koritskii paid the nine-ruble fee on 26 March / 7 April 1845, and 

signed the receipt book for ticket No. 355, issued to “Uistler (Iakov),” 

“the son of an American,” to attend drawing classes (see Image 159).60 

James was the last of nineteen students who signed up for them in March 

1845,61 and four hundred fifty tickets were issued for that year.62 His 

name was also registered in a book where the ticket number, to whom 

issued, documents submitted in order to register, and home address were 

recorded. The entry for James (see Image 160) reads: “355. Uistler 
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(Iakov), in Ritter’s house on the English Embankment.”63 Judging by the 

dash in the “documents submitted” column, this requirement was also 

waived for him. Finally, he was also registered in a book listing Academy 

pupils from 1845 through 1849, where the number of the drawing class 

each student was assigned to appears (see Image 162).64 There was some 

difficulty in spelling his surname in Russian the first time it was registered 

(see Image 159). 

James began to attend his course on 2/14 April and “seem[ed] 

greatly to enjoy going to a class.” He stood “next a youth of 16 

(Caslett),”65 which was probably Anna Whistler’s version of Cazalet, a 

prominent English merchant family in St. Petersburg.66 He was “entered 

at the second room,”67 meaning the auditorium in which the first level 

of drawing classes was held. He was placed in “Drawing from Originals 

of Heads,” as the number 1 next to his name in the “Inspector’s Class 

Journal” attests.68 

A first-hand explanation of what being in the first class entailed is 

to be found in the memoirs of a full-time Russian student, who entered 

the Academy in 1847: 

Drawing comprised the chief subject of study … I went 

into the first class, i.e., drawing from originals of heads … 

Soon I received No 2 for my first head, and for my second 

No 1 … 

 Here’s what receiving No No meant: classes were 

divided into morning ones, from 9 to 11 o’clock, and 

evening ones, from five to seven. During the morning 

classes everyone worked on his own particular specialty, 

but in the evening everyone, no matter what class he might 

be in, drew using a French pencil. When the month was 

up, the drawings were exhibited in the classes for the 

professors to look at. This was a kind of examination. In 

addition, every week figures and plaster casts of heads were 

presented and the requirement was that the outlines of 

them should be faithfully reproduced [in the pupils’ copies] 

even if the shading was not a finished piece of work. At the 

monthly inspections, or examination, the pupils did not 

have to present these weekly assignments because the 
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professor had looked them over during the week, but some 

pieces of work, which were prepared exclusively for the 

monthly examination, had to be presented by a deadline. 

 After a month the Council of professors would visit 

all the classes and, for example, in the class for drawing 

from plaster casts of heads, they would look at [and decide] 

which of the heads was drawn best and that one would be 

No 1; the next best would be No 2, etc. Of course, there 

was a certain amount of squabbling among the professors 

because one would find a certain drawing best while 

another would try to prove the opposite and defend the 

drawing he considered best. In these instances the final 

decision rested with the Vice-President of the Academy. 

Since the students’ surnames usually appeared on the 

drawings, the professors could show bias in evaluating the 

merits of the drawings, but it has to be said to their credit 

that this almost never happened … Whoever received one 

of the top ten numbers was transferred in the next third of 

the year into the next class.69 

The two professors who taught “Drawing from Originals of Heads” 

and “Drawing from Originals of Figures” were Ivan Aleksandrovich 

Voinov and Ivan Ivanovich Vistelius.70 There is proof only that James 

was Vistelius’s pupil. An extant pencil copy of a neoclassical drawing of 

a woman’s head that he executed in St. Petersburg (see Image 163) bears 

the customary surnames of teacher and student: “Vistelius” and 

“Visler.”71 

The angle of the portrait is from the right shoulder and back (not 

including the spine), which are bare. The woman’s head is turned to the 

right, almost looking over her right shoulder, to the extent that the right 

iris, which seems light-colored, fills the right corner of her eye and some 

of the left eye is visible, as is the part in her hair, which is parted in the 

middle. Her hair, which seems light-colored, is plaited into narrow 

braids. A double braid encircles the middle of her head while another 

braid, of which only a single tier is visible, is coiled on top of her head. 

She has full lips and a long, straight nose. The right shoulder and back 

are visible down to the level of the middle of the right upper arm. The 
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elbow is not visible, but the lifted hand with wrist and half of the lower 

arm can be seen. The hand is turned palm in, and the thumb and 

forefinger hold up a piece of drapery while the other fingers of the right 

hand are extended upward and forward. The left arm has been brought 

across the chest and the left hand rests on the right shoulder close to the 

neck. The little finger of this hand looks truncated and may be folded 

under. The raised drapery intersects the left arm so that only the hand, 

the wrist and half of the lower arm are visible, the same as in the case of 

the right hand.72 

James attended the evening class, from 5 to 7 p.m., but from the 

start did not go every day. After his first class, he hoped to go three times 

a week, but his ill health, a term as a boarder at Monsieur Jourdan’s 

school, the arrival of brother George Whistler in the summer of 1845 

and his stay of several months, skipping a class to stay home and make 

“something to surprise dear father,”73 and two summers for his health’s 

sake in England – the one in 1847 extending well into October – all took 

their toll on his attendance. 

He was very impressed that Koritskii was in the life class (see Image 

158), and felt that he could never achieve that level himself.74 Nor was it 

unheard of that some students “stayed in the same class two and three 

years,”75 and this is what happened to him, given his absences and failure 

to take the monthly assessment examinations that determined 

advancement into subsequent levels. In 1846 and 1847, he was not 

formally registered. In 1848, his name appeared in the Inspector’s Class 

Journal, with ticket number 425 assigned to him, but there is no number 

to show which of the five drawing courses he was registered in, and none 

to indicate that he took a monthly examination.76 Four hundred eighty-

six students were registered in the drawing courses in that year.77 The 

proposed date of 1847–1848 later assigned to the abovementioned 

drawing he made for Vistelius78 means it was executed some three years 

after he began attending the Academy (before June 1848), and that he 

was still in “Drawing from Originals of Heads.” There are no other 

known extant drawings bearing his name along with that of his Academy 

teacher. But, as Anna Whistler, looking over “St. P. memorials” of her 

sons some five years later, wrote James that her “eye met … your 
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originals,” 79  other drawings (whereabouts unknown) would seem to 

have been made.80 

While the diary entries from 5/17 April 1845 to June 1846 show 

that James attended drawing lessons at the Academy on an irregular 

basis, the center in his artistic life was Koritskii, who came to the 

Whistler home on Saturdays at four o’clock to give him a two-hour 

lesson.81 This included the period from September through December 

1846, when James attended Monsieur Jourdan’s school, because 

boarders went home early Saturday afternoon for the weekend. He 

enjoyed his lessons with Koritskii so much that when he had to miss one 

because he was kept at school until 5:30 one Saturday as a punishment, 

he cried.82 The loan from Koritskii of an écorché and a plaster bust,83 

and his condemnation of a drawing of a dog by James, give glimpses into 

the content of the lessons.84 Occasionally, Koritskii came to their house 

on a Monday morning, which may have been connected with an 

assignment set by the Academy or by him, having a deadline.85 James’s 

comment in later years that “he could remember wonderful things he 

had done during the years in Russia,”86 although vague, nevertheless 

shows the elation he felt. James had the opportunity to see Koritskii 

himself sketch at these sessions. In 1846, Koritskii drew John Bouttatz 

Whistler “seated in his little carriage driving about the parlour.”87 In 

1847, he drew the figure of Napoleon in James’s sketchbook (see Image 

171). 88  And, when James was not registered at the Academy, he 

sometimes went there to Koritskii’s study in the morning to draw and – 

in early 1847 – possibly to have his portrait painted.89 However, the 

frequency of these lessons was, like attendance at the Academy, affected 

by considerations of James’s health and by family plans. 

In 1847 and 1848, when James was seriously ill and Anna Whistler 

took the boys to England for both summers, his time with Koritskii was 

severely curtailed: in both 1847 and 1848 they probably worked together 

only four months. But James thought of Koritskii even when separated 

from him. From 1847 on, he constantly referred to Koritskii in his letters 

to his parents. From England in 1848 he sent paints to St. Petersburg to 

his father, who assured him that he “would send one half to [Koritskii] 

as a present from [James].”90 
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It was a blow for both James and Koritskii that at the end of the 

summer of 1848 James was left in England. He was assured that he 

would spend the mid-summer vacation the next year in St. Petersburg,91 

but no one could have guessed at that point that he would never see 

St. Petersburg, his beloved father, or Koritskii again. 

Anna Whistler returned to St. Petersburg charged with a 

commission for Koritskii from James as well as with expressions of 

attachment to this young man, whom he “look[ed] up to with all the 

reverence an Artist merits and his master besides.” 92  When 

correspondence became the only link with his parents, James wrote them 

so many letters in September and October of 1848 93  mentioning 

Koritskii that Anna Whistler invited Koritskii to spend the evening of 31 

October with the family so “that [they] might deliver [James’s] messages 

of love to him.”94 The invitation was for seven o’clock, when Willie, the 

only remaining family member who spoke Russian, “would be free from 

study to talk to him of [James].”95 Willie and Koritskii looked at views 

of the Isle of Wight, and Willie “recounted to him [their] walks and 

pursuits.”96 Anna Whistler showed him a sketch James had made for her 

of “The Witch of Endor Raising Samuel” and reported to James: “Your 

master said it was a good effort.”97 James’s commission to Koritskii was 

for “impressions in white wax of the Russian eagle,”98 but Koritskii “said 

he would try to get a book of Russian heraldry” for James instead.99 

When Willie “told him how often [James] had wished for him, he seemed 

in a glow of emotion, put his hand on his heart and said “and ‘oh how I 

wish for him always.’”100 He thanked James “for the paints,” saying 

“such cannot be bought here.”101 It was clear that “he delighted to talk 

of his pupil.” 102  He asked for and received permission to write to 

James.103 He did not succeed in getting the book of heraldry by the 

deadline of 5 November that Anna Whistler had set,104 and this project 

fell by the wayside. Nor does he seem ever to have written to James, 

although he sent his love through Anna Whistler and repeatedly 

promised to write. Gradually the objects he had lent for copying were 

returned to him.105 

For the Academy exhibit in late autumn of 1848, Koritskii 

submitted a copy he had made of Dessain’s 1847 portrait of James and 

Willie (see Image 27), “a proof of his affection for … dear Jemie.”106 On 
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11 December, he presented “dear father with [this] portrait of his pupil 

and ‘brat’” (Russian for “brother”).107 Koritskii had obviously intended 

it as a surprise, because when Major Whistler had gone “one day to the 

Palette [de Raphael],” an art supplies store, “the vender of crayons etc 

… [had] enquired if we had been to see the portrait of our boys exhibited 

at the Academy, most admirable likenesses painted in oils by a Russian 

officer.”108 

Koritskii came again later in December “to recommend a 

draftsman” to replace the alcoholic Hedenschoug.109 Major Whistler, 

knowing Koritskii had given his paints from James to the ailing Briullov, 

presented to him with James’s love the second half of the paints James 

had sent.110 

He came again to consult in late January or early February 1849 with 

the now-frail Major Whistler about Briullov, whose serious illness 

required him, too, to leave the severe climate of St. Petersburg. He asked 

Major Whistler what route should be taken to reach the island of 

St. Catherine, off Brazil, recommended by Briullov’s doctors. 111  He 

apparently harbored the hope that he might accompany Briullov on his 

journey to Europe and thus see James in England.112 

Koritskii’s last recorded visit took place when he called on the 

widowed Anna Whistler and Willie in May 1849 before they left 

St. Petersburg permanently.113 He told them of his great disappointment. 

His hopes of going abroad with Briullov and seeing James in England 

had all been dashed. They were to take a letter from him to James, but 

there is no further reference to it.114 With their departure from Russia, 

the Whistlers lost touch with him.115 

James was exposed at the Academy to a rigorous, challenging, 

competitive, structured training, albeit sporadic. Koritskii both taught 

him and tried to direct him in fulfilling the demands placed on the 

students, yet attendance in a class and Koritskii’s supervision did little to 

instill discipline in him. Years later, he expressed the regret that he had 

not “begun by learning something of drawing,”116 but he was immersed 

in the world of art as he had never been before. The elated words of 

Koritskii’s cousin, Anton Shtukenberg (see Image 250), about his visits 

to the Academy were equally applicable to James:  
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[I] loved to wander through the rooms of the glorious 

Academy. They instilled [in one] a particular poetic mood. 

I had free access to the Academy and would gaze 

passionately at Guido Reni, Domenichino and Raphael (in 

copies made by Briullov and Bruni). This greatly aided the 

development of my taste and my love of the fine arts … it 

seems to me that in the Academy even a person with no 

hands would have become enamored of painting.”117  

This awakening later prompted James to name St. Petersburg as his 

birthplace.118 

*    *    * 

An aspect of his immersion in the world of Russian art is that 

through Koritskii he apparently came to the attention of Briullov. It is 

plausible that Koritskii would have told Briullov that he had been 

engaged to give lessons to the young son of the American building the 

railroad. It seems likely that Briullov knew James at least by sight, since 

James was a pupil of his student, although under any circumstances the 

beautiful, animated, underage child in the halls of the Academy would 

have drawn attention to himself. Koritskii wrote in his diary on 30 

December [1846 / 11 January 1847] that he “was painting a portrait of 

the American” (whereabouts unknown), who may have been James, and 

some of the time the work was carried out in Briullov’s presence.119 The 

ailing Briullov’s delight when Koritskii presented him with paints sent 

by James from London in 1848, and pretended they were for Briullov 

from James, also suggests that Briullov knew James or knew of him.120 

In fact, he may have known both Whistler boys, for Willie felt free to try 

to see Briullov as well as Koritskii during the Christmas holidays of 

1848.121 

Anna Whistler would have heard a great deal about Briullov from 

Koritskii via James and Willie. There is no direct evidence that she ever 

met him, but indirect evidence suggests that she may have visited his 

studio, and it is in this period that he was painting some of his best 

portraits. Her diaries show her acquaintance with only one female 

portrait by Briullov – St. Alexandra Ascending to Heaven (Sviataia 

Aleksandra, voznosiashchaiasia na nebo) (1845) (see Image 453) – which 
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James pronounced “the most interesting of all the works of art around 

us” when they visited the oratory (see Image 452) of the Alexander 

Palace in Tsarskoe Selo (see Images 388, 447) in 1846.122 Two years after 

leaving Russia, Anna Whistler, with her appreciation for color, alluded 

to Briullov when describing to James her visits “next door to see Cousin 

Josée Richards,” daughter of General Joseph Gardner Swift and the 

niece of Major Whistler, “looking beautiful enough for one of Brulloffs 

subjects in a cerulean blue robe clasped with turquoise and her eyes as 

blue as the broach.”123 It is difficult to imagine that Anna Whistler could 

make a comparison between Josée Richards and the subjects of 

Briullov’s paintings based only on statements about them by Koritskii 

translated by her children and having seen only one of Briullov’s female 

portraits. Privileged visitors to St. Petersburg could be taken to view 

artists’ studios.124 The indirect evidence suggests that Koritskii, through 

whom his friends obtained access to view Briullov’s studio,125 may have 

taken some of the Whistler family on a tour of it as well. He mentioned 

to Major and Anna Whistler in October of 1848 that Briullov was 

painting a group of nuns (see Image 176), which he (Koritskii) hoped 

they might see.126 This, too, implies entry to Briullov’s studio. 

James’s enrollment at the Academy awakened the family’s interest 

in the exhibits taking place there. Every three years the Academy building 

was the scene of a public exhibition of the works of Academy professors 

and students as well as of artists working in St. Petersburg.127 In the 

autumn of each year there was an annual exhibit. There were also many 

smaller temporary exhibits. Attending exhibits also introduced them to 

the permanent collection. 

On 17/29 April 1846, Major and Anna Whistler attended the 

triennial exhibit. They wanted their children “to become familiar with 

the subjects of the modern artists.” James and Willie went almost every 

day that week. James was especially taken by “a boys portrait said to be 

his likeness and altho the eyes were black and the curls darker than his, 

[his parents] found it so like him … the boy is taken in a white shirt with 

crimped frill open at the throat, it is half length and no other garment 

could set off the glow on the brunette complexion so finely.” Major 

Whistler “said he should be glad to buy it, but its frame would only 

correspond with the furniture of a palace, being a rich vine.”128 Emile-
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François Dessain, a French artist then working in St. Petersburg, showed 

sixteen works in this exhibit, including six pastel portraits (unnamed in 

the catalogue).129 One of them may have been the portrait resembling 

James, for something inspired his parents to commission Dessain to 

paint James and Willie. After the exhibit – most likely between autumn 

of 1846 and an unspecifiable date in 1847 – Dessain executed a pastel 

double portrait of James and Willie, identically dressed in grey trousers 

and close-fitting black jackets, the uniform of Monsieur Jourdan’s 

school, which they attended from September through December of 1846 

(see Image 27).130 Anna Whistler’s “deeper interest” was attracted by the 

religious subject of The Brass Serpent (Mednyi zmii) by Fyodor Antonovich 

Bruni (see Images 183–184) in the permanent collection, but in her zeal 

she seemed to imagine more “countenances beaming with Faith” than 

actually were.131 

In March of 1847, the Academy mounted a special two-week exhibit 

of seven paintings by the celebrated Russian marine painter, Ivan 

Konstantinovich Aivazovskii (see Image 178). 132  Major and Anna 

Whistler, Debo, Willie, and Mary Brennan attended.133 Anna Whistler 

recorded with appreciation the play of the light from the torches in the 

central painting of the group: Peter I at Krasnaia Gorka Lighting a Bonfire on 

the Shore as a Beacon to His Foundering Ships (Pyotr I pri Krasnoi gorke, 

zazhigaiushchii kostyor dlia podachi signala gibnushchim svoim sudam) (see Image 

179). Smaller views of Odessa, Constantinople, and other seaports (see 

Images 180–182), in which the “sun gilds the water magnificently or the 

moonbeams play upon the waves all delighted [them] in turn.”134 Only 

James missed the exhibit, which his mother must have described to him. 

He had by then been confined to the house for nine weeks with 

rheumatic fever. He had not been permitted to draw the entire time, so 

Koritskii was not coming to their home. James’s compensation was a 

volume of Hogarth’s engravings of his own originals, which Debo 

borrowed for him. Looking through it, his thoughts were of Koritskii, 

to whom he greatly wished to show it. 

Unfortunately, only these two exhibits were recorded by Anna 

Whistler, but they show the rich and exciting offerings James and his 

family could savor a short ride across the Neva opposite their home. 

From England in 1849, he continued to be interested in knowing of any 
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exhibits taking place at the Academy,135 but Major Whistler was too weak 

to attend, if he was even aware of them. 

Given all the exhibits James must have seen, the tantalizing question 

remains of whether he ever visited the Hermitage (see Images 114–

116).136 When the family first arrived in St. Petersburg, Colonel Todd 

took the adult members to the Hermitage. In October 1848, when 

Koritskii visited the Whistlers and told them he was copying paintings in 

the Hermitage, he invited Major and Anna Whistler “to go [there] to see 

the pictures now.”137 Relating this to James in a letter, Anna Whistler’s 

response was: “but oh I shall miss my Jemie too sadly there!”138 A 

possible interpretation of her comment is that she would miss him too 

much if she were to go now, because she had been there before in his 

company. There is support for this interpretation in an earlier analogous 

situation. In September 1848, she had expressed similar sentiments 

about visiting the Church of Our Lady (Vor Frue Kirke) in Copenhagen 

without James on her way back to St. Petersburg, after having visited it 

with James on their way to England in June 1848 (see Images 480–484).139 

Beyond the abovementioned intimation, there seems to be no 

information about whether James ever visited the Hermitage. 

*    *    * 

The Whistlers’ interest in having portraits of family members made 

in St. Petersburg preceded the commission for the portrait by Dessain. 

James’s watercolor portrait (see Image 24) was painted in 1844 by C.A.F. 

Fiessler, a German artist, whose biography cannot so far be 

established.140 Nothing is known about the circumstances under which 

it was executed. It was given to Mary Brennan as a gift by Anna 

Whistler.141 

In the primitively painted portrait, James, nine or ten years old, 

stands at “a wooden drafting table” with “a palette in his left hand and a 

paintbrush in the right.”142 The blue-eyed boy with short, curly, dark hair 

wears a dark-belted beige artist’s smock (unpainted, it is the color of the 

paper). He is not the beautiful child Whistler was. Behind him and to his 

left is a green drape with fringe that is perhaps supposed to be gold. The 

wall is grey. The child is painting the portrait of a woman with long, dark 

hair, who is wearing a blue dress with stiff pink roses that stick up from 
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a dark belt. “[H]e is shown in a three-quarter view with his face turned 

toward the viewer.”143 The border of the portrait is painted bright blue 

to resemble a frame. In the lower left of the portrait is written: “n.d. 

Natur gemalt v. C.A.F. Fiessler. 1844.” In this same year, a full-length 

portrait photograph was taken of James, showing a sweet-faced boy (see 

Image 25). 

In 1845 or 1846, James’s pencil portrait (see Image 26) was executed 

by an unidentified artist, whose possible identity has been proposed as 

Thomas Wright (see Image 208), Koritskii (see  Images 167–170), or 

James himself with later corrections by Seymour Haden (see Image 

20).144 

For his 48th birthday, in May 1848, Major Whistler commissioned 

a portrait of himself (whereabouts unknown) for his wife from an 

unidentified artist, who may have been the brother of the children’s 

tutor, Mr. Biber.145 James accompanied his father to the artist’s studio at 

least once. There is no information about the appearance of the portrait. 

It may be the one Major Whistler bequeathed when dying to Colonel 

Pavel Petrovich Mel’nikov (see Image 247), his colleague and friend in 

charge of the Northern Administration of the St. Petersburg–Moscow 

Railway.146 

The English artist Thomas Wright was then active in St. Petersburg. 

He drew a pencil and watercolor portrait of Anna Whistler in 1845 (see 

Image 1), signing it in the lower right “Thos. Wright (Rait) 1845” (“Rait” 

is a transliteration of his Russian signature, Райт). In the drawing, Anna 

Whistler appears in left profile. She is wearing a light blue dress with a 

white collar. Her figure is shown to just below the bodice of her dress. 

She is slender, with a quite long, straight nose. Her visible eye and 

eyebrow look dark. She is looking straight ahead with an expression of 

pleasant composure. Her dark hair is pulled back in a braided chignon. 

A small curl of hair hangs loose in front of her ear. Only the very top of 

her ear is covered by her hair. Her chin is small and proportionate to her 

face. Her dress has a puckered panel running from the neck across the 

shoulder to the top of the elbow-length sleeve, which has a puckered 

cuff. The collar is squarish and lighter in color than the dress and reveals 

the neck. 



JAMES ABBOTT WHISTLER (JEMIE) 151 

THE ST. PETERSBURG DIARIES (1843–1848) OF ANNA (MCNEILL) WHISTLER 

Major Whistler’s draftsman, Carl Hedenschoug, persuaded the 

Whistler parents in 1844 to let him draw James’s and Willie’s portraits. 

He produced such hideous caricatures that, although the kind-hearted 

Major Whistler paid for them, he also burned them.147 

With Koritskii’s presentation of his copy of Dessain’s portrait of 

James and Willie to Major Whistler, he and Anna Whistler each had a 

portrait of them. Anna Whistler, however, liked Koritskii’s copy less than 

she did the original,148 and both she and her husband did not seem to 

consider either artist first-rate.149 Consequently, as James was now living 

in England, they shifted their search for a portrait artist. Major Whistler 

asked that his engineer friend Thomas Macdougall Smith be requested 

to find “a first rate Artist … in London that we may have a good picture 

with a perfect likeness.”150 Smith recommended William Boxall (see 

Image 209). When James’s portrait was almost completed, he described 

to his father the fine background with its “warm tone very like one of 

Gainsboroughs,” with “a beautiful creamy surface” that “looks so rich” 

(see Image 28).151 Seeing his portrait, he immediately wondered “what 

Karitzky would say to it?”152 Certain of returning to St. Petersburg, he 

added: “Of course he will see it.”153 

In 1849, after the death of Major Whistler, when Anna Whistler and 

Willie stopped in London to pick up James on their way home to 

America, daguerreotypes were made at the request of Joesph Harrison 

Jr. of her and both boys by William Edward Kilburn in his Regent Street 

studio.154 “In the exquisitely clear, jewellike ninth plates of the Whistler 

brothers, which form a pair of mirror images, the boys sit before a 

delicately hand-colored backdrop of blue sky and white clouds” (see 

Images 29–30). 155  The whereabouts of the daguerreotype of Anna 

Whistler are unknown to me. 

On their trips between England and Russia, Anna Whistler, James, 

and Willie stopped in Germany and Denmark. These stopovers appealed 

to James, who had expressed to his mother his desire to travel, his 

particular interests being Italy and Egypt.156 In Lübeck, they visited the 

art gallery of Georg Pflüg, which contained many Old-Master paintings. 

Mr. Pflüg was already acquainted with Major Whistler.157 On their 1847 

stopover from Russia, James, a first-time visitor, went to the gallery three 

times.158 He was impressed by “a very fine head painted by a Spanish 
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master.”159 They also visited “the marine church where the wonderful 

clock and the deaths dance are.”160 The latter, James wrote his father, 

“consists of series of oil paintings – representing death in 24 different 

positions exercising his power over people of all ranks; the picture itself 

was more curious than pretty.”161 

On route to England in the summer of 1848, their steamer stopped 

at Copenhagen to take on coal. Delayed by quarantine precautions, they 

opted to spend their brief time ashore at the Church of Our Lady (Vor 

Frue Kirke) (see Image 480). The sculptures here were known to them 

from reproductions owned by the Laws in St. Petersburg. The visit was 

proposed by James and seconded by the friend of Bertel Thorvaldsen – 

probably Dr. Olaf Lundt Bang (see Image 485) – whom they had met 

on board and who had “detect[ed] Jemies love for sculpture.”162 At the 

church, they saw Thorvaldsen’s neoclassical marble sculptures of Christ, 

the apostles, the angel baptismal font, and the terra cotta pediment with 

St. John in the wilderness (see Images 481–484). Anna Whistler liked the 

figure of Christ “better than any attempt at similitude of Him that I ever 

saw before. The expression … so benign & so commanding.”163 She was 

probably moved by Christ’s appearing to be human rather than divine. 

Left in London with the Hadens in the autumn of 1848, James was 

sent to Eldon Villa, a school run by a Mr. and Mrs. Phillott, at Portishead, 

near Bristol. Anna Whistler was waiting to hear what Seymour, who 

would see James at Christmas, would say as to whether James had 

“gained either health or wisdom at Portishead.” 164  She seemed 

nevertheless to expect James to return to Eldon Villa in the new year and 

to come to St. Petersburg when his third quarter at the school was 

over.165 But after Christmas, James did not return to the Phillotts’ school, 

where there were too many temptations.166 He lived with the Hadens, 

and Seymour arranged for tutoring by “a clergyman well-qualified to 

teach him.”167 

Living with the Hadens, James became even more immersed in the 

world of art than in St. Petersburg. He sat to William Boxall (see Image 

209), later director of the National Gallery, for his portrait. He formed a 

deep attachment to Boxall and, in turn, charmed the artist. He, Debo, 

and Seymour visited Boxall’s studio to view the portrait, which was “very 

like and a very fine picture” by “a beautiful Colorist.”168 He may have 
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taken Mr. Eastwick (see Image 233) there, too, so that a “report [of his] 

likeness” could be made in St. Petersburg.169 He announced with elation 

that Boxall was going to take him to Hampton Court to see the cartoons 

by Raphael, “the greatest Artist that ever was.”170 He wished his father 

and Koritskii could be there, too. Boxall made him a present of History 

of the Early Italian Painters by Anna Jameson.171 Boxall’s portrait of the 

fourteen-year-old boy (see Image 28) was exhibited at the Royal 

Academy in the spring and summer of 1849.172 

Seymour fostered James’s art education, paying no heed to the fact 

that James’s parents did not want him to be an artist. It was Seymour, 

himself an artist, who probably had the greatest influence over James in 

this brief stay in London. He “was a talented draughts man … having 

attended a government art training school while studying medicine at the 

Sorbonne in Paris.” On “completion of his medical studies,” he had 

“traveled through Italy and Switzerland … from February to August, 

1844,” going on “regular sketching expeditions.” 173  He had made 

etchings of some of his sketches when back in London.174 Watercolors 

of some of the sketches hung in Debo’s boudoir (see Images 213–

222).175 

Starting in 1845, Seymour had begun to collect etchings, particularly 

“in the area of seventeenth-century Dutch etching,” accumulating 

Rembrandt’s work especially. “[I]n the mid to late 1840s … [he] began 

[a] serious study of Rembrandt etchings.” It is believed that James’s 

participation in this activity, even for the short time he spent in England, 

“would have developed [in him] an extraordinary knowledge not only of 

Rembrandt’s etchings … but also of the etchings of the seventeenth-

century Dutch school.”176 

Seymour also “arranged for [James] to attend a series of very 

popular lectures … at the Royal Academy Schools in March, 1849” by 

Charles Robert Leslie (see Image 210), who had at one time been 

“drawing master at West Point.”177 James “liked them very much.”178 

His “interest in etching” had been awakened in St. Petersburg, when he 

whiled away his confining days of illness looking at Hogarth’s book of 

etchings of his own originals. 179  Leslie’s lecture on Hogarth now 

impressed him the most.180 It is felt that Leslie reinforced Seymour’s 

directing of James’s “interests towards Rembrandt and seventeenth-
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century Dutch art.”181 Seymour started James as a collector by giving him 

“a 10s Print from one of Fuseli’s works called ‘The Lazar House’ … 

taken from Milton and … a very fine thing tho’ much exaggerated” (see 

Image 207 ).182 He acted as critic of James’s artistic efforts, correcting his 

drawing of the infant Annie Haden.183 He also saw the flaws in James’s 

character. When James was leaving for America, Seymour wrote him a 

letter telling him “sans [without] reserve of your faults,” but decided 

James would “think it too severe” and did not send it.184 

In the spring of 1849, James took James Bicheno Francis (see Image 

56), a visiting friend from his childhood days in Lowell, “through several 

picture galleries.”185 Not everyone shared his indefatigable enthusiasm 

for art, as Seymour did, or encouraged his opinion on works of art, as 

his father had. Francis, the hydraulic engineer who had replaced Major 

Whistler at Lowell, Massachusetts, characterized James with some 

amusement as “a very profound Critic – setting down this picture as 

dumb, that a mess, and another divine, all in the most innocent and 

amusing manner.”186 After going “through no less than five galleries,” 

Francis, who had no appreciation for the arts in general, “got tired to 

death of pictures.”187 

*    *    * 

The Russian art experience, augmented by the German and the 

Danish, and especially by the English, culminated in the adolescent’s 

declaration in 1849: “I hope, dear Father, you will not object to my 

choice, viz: a painter, for I wish to be one so very much.”188 

A little more than two months later, his father was dead. James 

returned with his mother, Willie, and Mary Brennan to their native land. 

The almost five years abroad, especially in his formative years, had 

changed him and made him different from his contemporaries at home. 

He “had a rather foreign air,”189 as did Willie, and together they made “a 

most picturesque couple, quite unique, among the other boys” in 

Stonington.190 

“There are critical periods in children’s lives,” such as “growing up 

in a foreign community,” “that predispose them to seek other 

identities.”191 It is perhaps in St. Petersburg that James’s aristocratic view 

of himself was formed.192 His father had been invited by the emperor to 
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build the first railroad in Russia. His father had actually been presented 

to Nicholas I (see Images 420–423). He had breakfasted at the emperor’s 

table, when he had talked and traveled in the same railroad car with the 

emperor, when the latter came to inspect the factory at Alexandrofsky 

(see Images 223–225) and ride on the finished section of railroad. He 

had received a Russian decoration (see Image 252) for his work. All of 

this would have been enough to instill in James an aristocratic view of 

himself, but in addition, the family lived surrounded by Imperial palaces 

and mansions belonging to the aristocracy. Their first landlord was a 

count and the grandson of Catherine the Great (see Images 86, 414). 

Some of the family went to a fête for peasants on the estate of Count 

Kushelev (see Image 302). They had met young Count Stroganov (see 

Image 299) on the voyage to St. Petersburg. Being a child, James did not 

have his mother’s understanding of the social gap between them and the 

aristocracy that she thought could not be bridged. He wanted to see the 

young count when the name of the latter was mentioned, but was 

restrained by her. She may have told him that the young count’s 

grandmother (see Image 300) had died, as well as his fiancée’s uncle (see 

Image 310), to both of whom the emperor was devoted. In Briullov’s 

studio, which he must have visited, and in the permanent collection of 

the Academy, he would have seen portraits of aristocrats. There is an 

uncorroborated story that when Major Whistler died, the emperor 

proposed that James and Willie be educated in his Corps of Pages (see 

Images 139, 371) and they may have known of the offer their mother 

rejected. An early inkling of any snobbery in James was recorded by his 

mother when he was miffed because they had to travel second-class on 

the train from Hull to Scarborough during their 1847 visit to England.193 

Still, when asked whether he would like to be a grand duke and have the 

grounds at Tsarskoe Selo “for play grounds,” he rejected the idea 

because “there could be no freedom with a footman at ones heels!”194 

And, had he been enrolled in the Corps of Pages, his love of freedom 

and lack of discipline could have resulted in his dismissal. 

For six years, he endured artistic doldrums in the United States, until 

he was twenty-one, when he returned to Europe forever. 

*    *    * 
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James’s biography in the diaries concludes with the summer of 1848 

on the Isle of Wight. No mention is made of his having been left in 

England, when Anna Whistler resumes writing her diary in 

St. Petersburg in September. Her abandonment of the diary after 

September 1848 means that James’s life and art experiences in England 

are excluded. Her comments on his lessons at the Imperial Academy of 

Fine Arts in St. Petersburg hardly illuminate his experience there. Her 

first-hand acquaintance with James and Koritskii’s relationship within 

the family yields greater but not abundant detail. This essay on James’s 

life during the St. Petersburg sojourn, on the important continuity of his 

rich art experiences in England, on his relationship with Koritskii from 

a distance, and on the illumination of Koritskii’s artistic life outside their 

family has therefore relied heavily on outside sources: the Whistler 

Collection at Glasgow University Library; the Maxwell Papers at the 

New-York Historical Society; the Harrison Letterbooks at the Historical 

Society of Pennsylvania; the Pennell–Whistler Papers at the Library of 

Congress; James’s record at the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts in the 

Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi istoricheskii arkhiv (Russian State Historical 

Archives) in St. Petersburg; and the Eastwick Letters in the possession of 

Estelle and David Knapp, and extensive printed sources. 
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NOTES 
 

1. There was at first some doubt as to whether the family would 
arrive at all in 1843. Although Major Whistler and Maxwell were 
looking for a house for them, Major Whistler was “much 
distressed for [James] who is very ill” (John S. Maxwell to Mrs.  
Hugh Maxwell, St. Petersburg, August 1, 1843, N-YHS: Maxwell 
Papers, no. 17). In the event that he might not be granted 
permission by Nicholas I to go to Hamburg to meet his family, 
he had obtained Colonel Todd’s permission on 1 August for 
Maxwell to meet them, but this proved to be unnecessary (John 
S. Maxwell to Mrs. Hugh Maxwell, St. Petersburg, August 1, 
1843, N-YHS: Maxwell Papers, no. 17). Soon, Major Whistler 
received the news that James “was better” and that “they will 
arrive here by the end of September” (John S. Maxwell to Mrs. 
Hugh Maxwell, St. Petersburg, August 12, 1843, N-YHS: 
Maxwell Papers, no. 17). Both letters are marked “No. 17.” 

2. Entry for Saturday Jan 30th..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

3. Anna Whistler to George W. Whistler [ St. Petersburg] Tuesday 
noon 8/20th June [1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W354. 

4. Entry for Saturday Jan 30th..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

5. Entry for Tuesday night April 22 nd..  [1844], NYPL: AWPD, 
Part I. 

6  Andrew McCalla Eastwick thought he would not survive: “He is 
a tender plant and I fear much if they will ever be able to raise 
him to manhood. It would never answer to send him from home 
alone; he is too delicate” (A.M. Eastwick to Edward p. Eastwick, 
Alexandroffsky, May 25th/6th June 1848 Sunday, Eastwick 
Letters). 

7. Deborah Whistler to General Joseph G. Swift, St. Petersburg 
Oct. 6th 1843, NYPL: Swift Papers. 

8. James Whistler to George W. Whistler, Preston Monday June 
21st 47 – Saturday July 3 [1847], GUL: Whistler Collection, 
W654. 

9  His beauty was remarked upon from the time he was very young 
until he was an old man. Kate (Prince) Livermore said:  

My dear Father … used to say after an evening spent with 
the Whistlers [in Lowell, MA], May I go upstairs and see 
that beautiful boy asleep? And there was the beautiful 
child with the bed clothes kicked off but his deep rouge 
coloured flannel combinations in contrast with his rich 
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brown curls, and his rosy cheeks fast asleep … and then 
my Father would say ‘it is enough to make Sir Joshua 
Renals come out of his grave [?] [?] to paint Jemie’.” (Kate 
Livermore to Elizabeth Robbins Pennell, Sept. 5th 1906, 
LC: P-W, box 292, L, fol. 2899) 

 Wallis Gay wrote of the over-sixty-year-old Whistler: “His very 
handsome grey-blue eyes still sparkled with the fire of youth … I 
think it strange that no one ever seems to emphasize his singular 
beauty. Not only were his features finely cut, but the symmetry 
of his figure, hands and feet, retained until late in life, was 
remarkable: in youth he must have been a pocket Apollo” (Wallis 
Gay, Recollections of Whistler, LC: P-W, box 283, F–G, fol. 1091). 

10. John S. Maxwell to Mrs. Hugh Maxwell, St. Petersburg, Sept. 30, 
1843, N-YHS: Maxwell Papers, no. 22. 

11. Pastel portrait by Émile-François Dessain, of James and William 
Whistler, 1847, Freer Gallery of Art, Smithsonian Institution, 
Washington, DC, acq. no. 04.412a-b. 

12. Entry for South Shore of Blackpool. on the Lancashire coast. July 

28th..  1847. Wednesday, NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

13. Entry for St Petersburg. 1848. September, NYPL: AWPD, Part 
II. 

14. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg, Monday 
evening Dec. 13th [OS] English Christmas day [25 December 
NS] [1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W375. 

15. Margaret F. MacDonald, James McNeill Whistler Drawings, Pastels 
and Watercolours: A Catalogue Raisonné (New Haven and London: 
Published for the Paul Mellon Centre for Studies in British Art 
by Yale University Press, 1995) (hereafter, MacDonald, Catalogue 
Raisonné), no. 32, pp. 10–11.  

16. Emma W. Palmer to Mrs. Pennell, Stonington, Sept. 25th [1906], 
LC: P-W, box 296. 

17. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Feb 19th.. Monday 
eve [1849], GUL: Whistler Collection, W383. 

18. John S. Maxwell to Mrs. Hugh Maxwell, St. Petersburg, April 15, 
1844, N-YHS: Maxwell Papers, no. 32. 

19. Entry for Monday 27th..  of July [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 
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20. Entry for Thursday evening 29 th..  Oct. [1846], Tuesday night 

[February] 9th..  [1847], and Saturday evening. Feb 27 th..  [1847], 
NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

21. Entry for Thursday evening 29th..  Oct. [1846]. 

22. Anna Whistler to Joseph G. Swift, St. Petersburg, Sept. 24, 1846, 
NYPL: Swift Papers. 

23. George W. Whistler to Anna Whistler, St. Petersburg. Saturday 

9th..  Sepr. – [18]48, GUL: Whistler Collection, W657. 

24. George W. Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg, 6/18 Jany 
–49, GUL: Whistler Collection, W660. 

25. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, [ St. Petersburg] Saturday 
morning Jan 20th 1849, GUL: Whistler Collection, W378. 

26. Entry for Saturday afternoon June 20 [1846], NYPL: AWPD, 
Part II. 

27. Entry for October 23rd..  [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

28. Entry for Tuesday 13th..  May [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

29. Entry for Saturday evening. Feb 27th..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part 
II. 

30. Entry for Saturday Sept 20th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

31  A.M. Eastwick to Edward Eastwick, Alexandroffsky Head 

Mechanical Works, St. Petersburg, November 1st/13th 1847 
Saturday, Eastwick Letters. 

32. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

33. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St Petersburg Feb. 19th..  Monday 
eve [1849], GUL: Whistler Collection, W383. 

34. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg. Sunday night 

Nov 5th..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W367; Anna Whistler 

to James Whistler St Petersburg Feb. 19th..  [1849], GUL: Whistler 
Collection, W383. 

35. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg Dec. 4th..  1848. 
Monday evening, GUL: Whistler Collection, W370. 

36. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg. friday. March 9th..  
1849, GUL: Whistler Collection, W384. 
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37. George W. Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Feby 
28th/March 12 [18]49, GUL: Whistler Collection, W379. 

38. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, [ St. Petersburg] Monday 

evening 8th..  of Jan 1849, GUL: Whistler Collection, W377. The 
work Anna Whistler was reading aloud was The Dark River: An 
Allegory, by the Rev. Edward Munro. She erroneously called James 
Adeonatus instead of Adeodatus. I have consulted the 3rd 
American edition, “with Engravings from Original Designs by 
Chapman” (New York: General Prot. Episcopal S.S. Union, 
1848). 

39. Anna Whistler to Dr. Geo E Palmer, [London], June 8th 1849, 
LC: P-W, box 296. See also Anna Whistler to Mr. Harrison, 62 

Sloane St. June 11th 1849, LC: P-W, box 34. All quotations in this 
and the previous sentence are from Anna Whistler’s letter to Dr. 
George E. Palmer. 

40. Anna Whistler to George W. Whistler, Tuesday morning June 8th 
1847. Steamer Nicolai, GUL: Whistler Collection, W353. 

41. All previous quotations in this paragraph are from George W. 

Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg Jany 6/18-49, GUL: 
Whistler Collection, W660. 

42. This and the following two quotations are from Anna Whistler to 
James Whistler, [ St. Petersburg] Thursday 3/15 Feb. [1849], 
GUL: Whistler Collection, W382. 

43. Anna Whistler [to Margaret G. Hill] Friday afternoon 20th.. , LC: 
P-W, box 34. 

44. George W. Whistler to Anna and James Whistler, St. Petersburg 

Saturday 9 Sepr. – 48, GUL: Whistler Collection, W657. 

45. Elizabeth R. Pennell and Joseph Pennell, The Art of Whistler (New 
York: Modern Library, 1928), p. 98. 

46. Entry for Shantlin [sic]. Isle of Wight – its southern coast. 

Saturday July 22nd..  [1848], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

47. Anna Whistler to James Whistler [ St. Petersburg] Monday 

morning Dec. 11th..  [1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W371. 

48. Anna Whistler to James Whistler [ St. Petersburg] Monday 

morning Dec. 11th..  [1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W371. 

49. Entry for [Monday] March 9th..  1846, NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

50. Entry for Monday [August] 19th..  [1844], NYPL: AWPD, Part I. 
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51. “The early years and boyhood of James MacNeill Whistler,” by 
Miss Emma W. Palmer, GUL: Whistler Collection, P44. 

52. Pennell and Pennell, Art of Whistler, p. 135. 

53. MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, no. 5, p. 2; nos. 9–11, p. 10. 

54. For a detailed analysis of James’s St. Petersburg sketchbook, see 
MacDonald, no. 7, pp. 2–9. Others drew in the St. Petersburg 
sketchbook, too; Koritskii and Lidderdale have been identified 
(MacDonald, no. 7, pp. 3, 4, 6). 

55. This quotation and the two preceding are from the entry for 

Monday July lst..  [1844], NYPL: AWPD, Part I. 

56. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, no place, no date, with an entry 
later in the letter dated Tuesday. 26th, no year, GUL: Whistler 
Collection, W376. On the typewritten copy of this letter, 
someone has written “[1848] or early 1849.” W376 must be 
compared with Anna Whistler to James Whistler, GUL: Whistler 
Collection, W375, which is dated “ St. Petersburg. Monday 
evening Dec. 13th English Christmas day.” In W375, Anna 
Whistler caused some confusion for the reader by not stating that 
13 December was OS. Monday was “English Christmas day,” 25 
December (NS). Once this is established, it becomes clear that in 
both letters, when Anna Whistler mentions Saturday and her 
conversation with Willie about the new baby, she means 23 
December (NS), the day on which she received the news of the 
birth of the Hadens’ first child, a daughter, who was born on 14 
December (NS). Thus, “Tuesday 26th” in GUL: Whistler 
Collection, W376 is 26 December (NS) 1848. There is also 
internal evidence to support my dating. In W375, the information 
that “Willie is enjoying being with his companions at Mr 
Harrisons on Christmas Day” means that he had gone to 
Alexandrofsky, where the Harrisons lived. In W376, Anna 
Whistler writes James on the morning of “Tuesday 26th” that 
“Willie has not come from Alexandroffsky,” meaning that he had 
stayed there overnight and not yet come home. Moreover, as 
W375 does not contain the writer’s signature at the end, while 
W376 does not contain an opening greeting to the addressee, I 
believe they are not separate letters, but that W376 is a 
continuation of W375. 

  James’s first name and patronymic in Russian would be 

Yakov Egorovich (pronounced “Yahkuff Yeegoruhveech”). 
“Yacklegorivitch” is a slightly distorted rendering by Anna 
Whistler in this letter. 
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57. The existence of these five levels of drawing courses is not clearly 
apparent in the document concerning the reorganization of the 
Academy in 1840 (S.N. Kondakov, comp., Iubileinyi spravochnik 
Imperatorskoi Akademii khudozhestv 1764–1914 [Jubilee Handbook of 
the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts 1764–1914], 2 vols. [Petrograd: R. 
Golike, 1914–1915], vol. 1, pp. 150, 184), but is made very clear 
in the Academy registers that indicate which drawing courses 
students were registered in. In these books, there are five columns 
named for the five courses (RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 735, fol. 
140v. Spisok uchenikov Akademii Koim vydany bilety dlia 
poseshcheniia klassov s pokazaniem poluchennykh imi na 
èkzamenakh medalei. S 1845 po 1849 g. [List of Academy pupils 
to whom tickets were issued to attend classes, showing the medals 
received by them on examinations. From 1845 through 1849]). 
Fond 789 contains the records of the Imperial Academy of Fine 
Arts. 

  L.A. Seriakov (1824–1881), who entered the Academy as a 
student in 1847, said there were six drawing courses, the above-
mentioned and a sketching (ètiudnyi) class (L.A. Seriakov, “Moia 
trudovaia zhizn’, rasskaz gravera, akademika L.A. Seriakova. 
1824–1875” [“My Working Life, the Story of It by the Engraver, 
Academician L.A. Seriakov. 1824–1875”], Russkaia starina 14, 
[September 1875]: p. 350). 

58. A.V. Kornilova, Karl Briullov v Peterburge [Karl Briullov in Petersburg] 
([Leningrad]: Lenizdat, 1976), p. 20; N. Moleva and E. Beliutin, 
Russkaia khudozhestvennaia shkola pervoi poloviny XIX veka [The 
Russian Art School in the First Half of the Nineteenth Century] (Moscow: 
Iskusstvo, 1963), p. 359; N.P. Sobko, “Zhizn’ i proizvedeniia 
gravera L.A. Seriakova. 1824–1881” [“The Life and Works of the 
Engraver, L.A. Seriakov. 1824–1881,” Russkaia starina 31 (1881): 
p. 428. The “original” could itself be a copy and could be the 
work of a talented student, as had been the case with Karl 
Pavlovich Briullov (Kornilova, Karl Briullov, p. 20). 

59. In the reign of Nicholas I, there were two sets of amendments to 
Academy regulations. Those of 1830 raised the age of admission 
to fourteen on the grounds that because of the previously 
excessively young age of the general education school pupils, their 
love of and talent in the fine arts had not yet been able to form 
or manifest itself at that point (Kondakov, Iubileinyi spravochnik, 
p. 150). 

60. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 734, fol. 18v. Kniga o vydache biletov 
raznym litsam poseshchaiushchim Risoval’nye klassy IAKh za 
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1845 g. i 1846 g. [Book concerning the issuing of tickets to 
various persons attending drawing classes at the IAFA in 1845 
and 1846]. On the inside of the cover is written: “Spisok 
poseshchaiushchim raznym Risolval’nye klassy Imperatorskogo 
AKh koim vydany dlia vkhoda v onye ot Akademii bilety s 
ustanovlennoiu platoiu s pokazaniem: Komu imenno vydany 
bilety s kotorogo vremeni i skol’ko s kogo polucheno deneg i 
proch. Za 1845 god” [List of various persons attending the 
drawing classes of the Imperial AFA, to whom tickets have been 
issued by the Academy for entrance to those classes, together 
with the established fee, and indicating: to whom the tickets were 
given, as of what date, and how much money was received from 
whom, etc. For 1845]. 

61. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 734, fol. 18v (see previous Note for 
document title). An examination of the fees paid shows that for 
registration during the period January through April the fee was 
nine rubles, during May through August six rubles, and during the 
final third of the year three rubles. 

62. RGIA: Fond 789 op. 19, d. 735, fol. 17v (see Note 57 above for 
document title). 

63. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 733, fol. 31r. Kniga dlia zapisi biletov, 
vydavaemykh uchashchimsia na poseshchenie risoval’nykh 
klassov na 1845 g. [Book for registering tickets issued to pupils to 
attend drawing classes in 1845]. 

64. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 735, fol. 140v. (see Note 57 above 
for document title). 

  The documents I consulted about James’s time at the 
Academy were also consulted by a Russian researcher when the 
Pennells, in preparation for writing their biography of Whistler, 
wrote to Russia inquiring about James’s career there. Almost all 
the information they give about him is incorrect. This is based 
partly on mistakes made by the Russian researcher and partly on 
the Pennells’ wish to aggrandize young James’s talent.  

65. This and the quotation in the previous sentence are from the 

entry for Thursday 5th/17th..  of April [1845], within the entry for 

Thursday l0th..  April [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

66. No Cazalet is registered for 1845, but a Goodlet is (RGIA: Fond 
789, op. 19, d. 734, fol. 5r. (see Note 60 above for document 
title)). It is possible Anna Whistler confused the two, as she was 
acquainted with the Cazalets. Such mistakes were not uncommon 
for her. 
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67. Entry for Thursday 5th/17th..  of April [1845], within the entry for 

Thursday l0th..  April [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

68. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 735, fol. 14v. (see Note 57 above for 
document title). 

69. Seriakov, “Moia trudovaia zhizn’,” pp. 350–351. P.P. Chistiakov 
(1832–1919), who entered the Academy in 1849, says he was put 
in Course 1, “the class in which they drew with pencil copying 
originals of heads” (P.P. Chistiakov, Pis’ma, zapisnye knizhki, 
vospominaniia 1832–1900. Materialy podgotovleny k pechati i 
primechaniia k nim sostavleny E. Beliutinym i N. Molevoi [Letters, 
Notebooks, Memoirs 1832–1900. Materials prepared for publication 
and notes to them by E. Beliutin and N. Moleva] [Moscow: 
Iskusstvo, 1953], p. 513). 

70. Through the process of attrition and through the elimination of 
posts after the death of a teacher or upon his transfer to another 
course, after 1839 and beyond the period when the Whistlers 
lived in St. Petersburg, Voinov and Vistelius were the teachers of 
drawing Courses 1 and 2 (Moleva and Beliutin, Russkaia 
khudozhestvennaia shkola, pp. 352–353). 

  Ivan Aleksandrovich Voinov (1796 – St. Petersburg 26 
September / 8 October 1861), portrait painter, was a pupil in the 
Academy from 1800 to 1812. In 1808, he received the small silver 
medal and in 1809 the large: each award was for a life drawing. In 
1811, he was awarded the small gold medal for the program 
assigned him on the theme of An Old Man and a Boy Performing 
Some Kind of Exercise (Starik s mal’chikom v kakom libo uprazhnenii). 
In 1812, he was awarded the large gold medal for the program A 
Recruit Saying Goodbye to His Family (Rekrut, proshchaiushchiisia so 
svoim semeistvom) and also received a first-class certificate as 
portrait painter. As a pensioner of the Academy, he was a 
teacher’s assistant in the portrait class. In October 1817, he was 
appointed drawing teacher at the Academy. He was characterized 
at the end of the 1820s as using in his drawing class 
predominantly “originals” with a complicated pictorial form and 
basically connected with 18th-century images, and as preferring 
figures to heads. In 1848, he was awarded the title of academician 
and in 1859 that of adjunct professor. He also taught in the 
Society for the Encouragement of Artists. This biography is a 
composite drawn from the following sources: T.N. Gorina, ed., 
Khudozhniki narodov SSSR: Biobibliograficheskii slovar’ v shesti tomakh 
[Artists of the Peoples of the USSR: A Biobibliographical Dictionary in 
Six Volumes] (Moscow: Iskusstvo, 1972), vol. 2, p. 312; Moleva 

 



JAMES ABBOTT WHISTLER (JEMIE) 165 

THE ST. PETERSBURG DIARIES (1843–1848) OF ANNA (MCNEILL) WHISTLER 

 

and Beliutin, Russkaia khudozhestvennaia shkola, pp. 68, 143, 352–
353n12; Kondakov, Iubileinyi spravochnik, vol. 2, p. 41; P.N. 
Petrov, ed., Sbornik materialov dlia istorii imperatorskoi S.-Peterburgskoi 
Akademii khudozhestv za sto let ee sushchestvovaniia [A Collection of 
Materials for the History of the Imperial St. Petersburg Academy of Fine 
Arts for the One Hundred Years of Its Existence], vol. 1: 1864, vol. 2: 
1865, vol. 3: 1866 (St. Petersburg: Komissioner Imperatorskoi 
Akademii Khudozhestv Gogenfel’den i Ko, 1864–1866), vol. 1, 
pp. 525, 532, 537, 538, 557, 564, 567; vol. 2, pp. 9, 32, 35, 36, 48, 
93; A.E. Iundolov, comp., Ukazatel’ k Sborniku materialov dlia istorii 
Imperatorskoi S.-Peterburgskoi Akademii khudozhestv za sto let ee 
sushchestvovaniia, izdannomu pod redaktsieiu Pochetnogo 
Vol’nogo Obshchnika Akademii P.N. Petrova s ego 
primechaniiami [Index to A Collection of Materials for the History of the 
Imperial St. Petersburg Academy of Fine Arts for the One Hundred Years 
of Its Existence, published under the editorship of P.N. Petrov, 
Honorary Free Associate of the Academy, with notes by him] 
(St. Petersburg: M.M. Stasiulevich, 1887), p. 45.  

  The son of a joiner, Ivan Ivanovich Vistelius (Novgorod 
Province 1802 – St. Petersburg 4/16 February 1872), miniaturist, 
was a pupil in the Academy from 1813 to 1827. His teacher was 
A.G. Varnek (1782–1843). In 1825, he received the small silver 
medal and in 1826 the large: each award was for a life drawing. In 
1827, he was awarded the small gold medal for the program 
assigned him on the theme of The Feat of the Kievan Youth Who, to 
Save the Family of His Ruler and to Deliver Kiev, Which Was Surrounded 
by Pecheneg Forces, Swam across the Dnepr to Communicate Important 
News to His Countrymen, Risking His Life by Doing This in Full View 
of the Enemy (abbreviated Russian title, Podvig Kievlianina). In this 
same year, he also received a first-class certificate as artist 14th 
grade and was appointed drawing teacher at the Academy. He was 
characterized at the end of the 1820s as favoring the use in his 
drawing class of “originals” that were basically pale-colored 
outline drawings of figures from antiquity. In 1831, he was 
awarded the title of “nominee” and assigned a program for the 
title of academician: Portrait of V.K. Shebuev (Portret V.K. Shebueva) 
(1777–1855), rector of the Academy (today in the 
Gosudarstvennyi Russkii muzei [GRM] [State Russian Museum], 
St. Petersburg). In 1832, he was assigned a further program for 
the title of academician: to paint Narcissus Looking at Himself in the 
Water (Nartsis, smotriashchiisia v vodu); the size of the figure was 
required to be four vershki: i.e., seven inches (a vershok = 1¾ 
inches). In 1836, for the title of actual academician, he was 

 



JAMES ABBOTT WHISTLER (JEMIE) 166 

THE ST. PETERSBURG DIARIES (1843–1848) OF ANNA (MCNEILL) WHISTLER 

 

assigned a program to paint a miniature on the theme of Cain 
Becoming Sensible of the Evil Deed He Has Committed (Kain, 
pochuvstvovavshii sovershennoe im zlodeianie); the size of the picture was 
left to his own discretion. He failed to be elected at this time and 
did not receive the title of academician until 1848. Other works 
by Vistelius are a lithograph of Ossian (Ossian) (from the original 
by F. Gerard); an engraving of Alexander I Saving a Sick Peasant 
(Aleksandr I spasaet bol’nogo krest’ianina) (from the painting by Karl 
P. Briullov); a pencil drawing of Amor and Psyche (Amur i Psikheia) 
(in the State Russian Museum). Vistelius taught in the Academy 
from 1827 to 1871, becoming an adjunct professor in 1859. He 
also taught in the Drawing School of the Society for the 
Encouragement of Artists from 1843 to 1859 and in the Land 
Survey School and the Patriotic Institute. He was interested in 
lithography. A watercolor portrait of him was painted in 1856 by 
K.K. Zinoviev. Vistelius has been characterized by Moleva and 
Beliutin as a more talented artist than Voinov and a top teacher. 

  This biography is a composite drawn from the following 
sources: T.N. Gorina, Khudozhniki narodov SSSR, vol. 2, p. 285, 
and vol. 4, bk. 1, p. 318; Moleva and Beliutin, Russkaia 
khudozhestvennaia shkola, pp. 68, 143, 268, 353, 389; Kondakov, 
Iubileinyi spravochnik, vol. 2, pp. 39, 76; Petrov, Sbornik materialov, 
vol. 2, pp. 52, 207, 209, 213, 222–223, 224, 260, 274, 333, 342, 
and vol. 3, pp. 274–275, 339; Iundolov, Ukazatel’, pp. 43, 91; 
Èsfir Atsarkina, Karl Pavlovich Briullov: zhizn’ i tvorchestvo [Karl 
Pavlovich Briullov: Life and Works] (Moscow: Iskusstvo, 1963), 
p. 327; Chistiakov, Pis’ma, pp. 477, 577; E.N. Teviashov, Opisanie 
neskol’kikh graviur i litografii. Sostavil po svoemu sobraniiu E.N. 
Teviashov [Description of Some Engravings and Lithographs. Compiled 
from his own collection by E.N. Teviashov] (St. Petersburg: V. 
Kirshbaum, 1903), p. 76. 

71. MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, no. 19, p. 11. Vistelius’s name is 
in the upper right corner; Whistler’s is in the lower right. 
MacDonald did not transliterate the names from the Russian; 
instead, she transcribed them as though they had been written in 
English: thus her incomprehensible spellings, “Burmereiyez/ 
Buarepr.” MacDonald very kindly supplied me with a photocopy 
of the drawing. Unable to obtain a photograph of the drawing, I 
have transliterated the two Russian names from the reproduction 
of the drawing in her book (MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, no. 
19, p. 11). The final letter in each surname in Russian is the “hard 
sign” (tvyordyi znak), which until 1917 was placed at the end of all 
Russian words ending in a consonant. When in this position, it is 
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not transliterated; therefore, I have not rendered what became 
MacDonald’s final “z” and “r.” The quality and size of the 
reproduction do not permit me to deal with all of the inscriptions 
on it. The name “James Whistler” in English is visible below the 
Russian version “Visler.” See also Seriakov, “Moia trudovaia 
zhizn’,” pp. 350–351. 

72. The drawing has the following history:  

Drawn in St. Petersburg, 1847/8: probably sent to Mr. or 
Mrs. Thomas Winans because, according to Miss Elsie 
Célèste Hutton, she found the drawing among her 
mother’s papers at Thomas Winans’ villa ‘Alexandroffsky’ 
in Baltimore (note on photograph, GUL); on 9 June 1950, 
she wrote to J. Revillon, ‘I am so glad to have you tell me 
about the drawing in pencil of the girls head and the 
Russian signature. I couldn’t make out what that was’ (9 
June 1950, GUL: Whistler Collection, Rev 1955 3/186-7): 
passed by family descent to the present owner. 
(MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, no. 19, pp. 11–12) 

 The private collection was in New Jersey at the time of 
publication of the Catalogue Raisonné (MacDonald, Catalogue 
Raisonné, no. 19, p. 11). Its present location is unknown. 

  MacDonald assigned the date “1847/8” to the drawing. This 
was, of course, determined by style. James’s name being in the 
register of the Academy for 1848 confirms the supposition that 
he made this drawing in 1847/48 and submitted it to Vistelius in 
1848. MacDonald’s analysis that, rather than being a copy from a 
plaster cast as Joseph Revillon thought, “[i]t is more likely to be a 
careful copy of a neoclassical drawing, or rather an engraving or 
lithographic copy after such a drawing, since it appears to be 
imitating the printer’s style,” cannot be refuted, given that James 
was in Course 1: “Drawing from Originals of Heads.” The 
“original” he used was either a drawing or an engraved or 
lithographed copy of a drawing, and it was indeed “very likely that 
it was both supervised and corrected by … Koritskii” 
(MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, p. 12). 

73. Entry for Tuesday 10th..  March [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

74. Entry for Thursday 5th/17th..  of April [1845], within the entry for 

Thursday l0th..  April [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

75. Seriakov, “Moia trudovaia zhizn’,” pp. 350–351. 
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76. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 737, fol. 62v. Klassnyi zhurnal po 
chasti Inspektora na 1846, 1847, i 1848 god [The Inspector’s 
Class Journal for 1846, 1847, and 1848]. 

77. RGIA: Fond 789, op. 19, d. 735, fol. 17v. (see Note 57 above for 
document title). 

78. MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, p. 11. 

79. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, Scarsdale, April 3, 1854, GUL: 
Whistler Collection, W432. She seemed to think “originals” 
meant her children’s copies. 

80. On inquiring about student work at RGIA, whose holdings 
include Fond 789: Imperial Academy of Fine Arts, I was told that 
the fond did not contain work submitted for graduation (diplomnye 
raboty); but then, James was not a full-time student. I was also 
informed at the Archive of the Academy of Fine Arts that they 
do not have any drawing by Whistler. 

81. Entry for Thursday 5th/17th..  of April [1845], within the entry for 

Thursday l0th..  April [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II; entry for 

Saturday, Sept. 20, [1846]; entry for Saturday Dec 5 th..  [1846], 
NYPL: AWPD, Part II. Saturday was 19 September in 1846. On 
Sunday, 20 September, Anna Whistler would not have written in 
her diary. 

82. Entry for Saturday Dec 5th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

83.  William Whistler to James Whistler St.. Petersburg Monday Oct. 2 
[1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W974. An “écorché” is a figure 
usually in the form of a statuette, shown without skin to expose 
the muscular construction of the body (David G. Diamond, ed. 
Bulfinch Pocket Dictionary of Art Terms, 3rd rev. ed. (Boston: Little, 
Brown, 1992), s.v. “écorché”).  

84. Entry for Monday 27th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

85. Entry for Monday 27th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

86. “Once, he said, in London with his father, he had not been well, 
and he had been given a hot foot-bath, and he could never forget 
how he sat looking at his foot, and then got his paper and colours 
and set to work to make a study of it, ‘and in Russia,’ he added, ‘I 
was always doing that sort of thing’” (Pennell and Pennell, Life of 
Whistler, vol. 1, p. 15). A similar quotation can be found in Pennell 
and Pennell, Whistler Journal, p. 171. Major Whistler came to 
England only once during the time he was working in Russia: to 
attend Debo’s wedding in October 1847. He and James went 
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from Preston to London without the other family members to 
meet Francis Seymour Haden and traveled back to Preston with 
him for the wedding. 

87. Entry for Saturday afternoon. May 30th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, 
Part II. This entry marks the first appearance of Koritskii’s 
surname in the diaries. 

  Either Willie was also in this sketch, or there was more than 
one of “baby” by Koritskii, for, in 1908, William Whistler’s 
second wife, Helen (Ionides) Whistler (1849–1917), wrote to 
Elizabeth R. Pennell asking “to borrow a pencil drawing of my 
husband about 10 years old in Russian dress with a younger 
brother “Johnnie” in a quaint kind of go-cart, this was drawn by 
their drawing-master in St. Petersburg” (Helen Whistler to E.R. 
Pennell, Sept. 23, 1908, LC: P-W, box 304, W–Z, fols. 4963–4). 

88.  St. Petersburg Sketchbook, fol. 23, Hunterian Art Gallery, 
Glasgow University; MacDonald, Catalogue Raisonné, pp. 4, 5. 

89. Entry for Saturday evening. Feb 27th..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part 
II. 

90. Major G.W. Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg, Wed., 
August 9, 1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W656. 

91. Anna Whistler to James Whistler In my room. St. Petersburg, 
tuesday evening Sept 26th 1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, 
W361. 

92. Entry for Thursday 5th/17th..  of April [1845], within the entry for 

Thursday l0th..  April [1845], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

93. James wrote to his family in the remaining four months of 1848. 
He was unable to discipline himself to send a letter regularly along 
with the one Debo wrote once a fortnight to her parents or the 
one Mr. Fairbanks wrote every Friday to Major Whistler, but he 
managed to comply sometimes and friends personally carried 
some of them. Their receipt and some of their contents is 
reflected in the letters of his parents and Willie (Anna Whistler to 

James Whistler St. Petersburg, Oct. 3 rd..  1848. Tuesday, GUL: 
Whistler Collection, W363; Anna Whistler to James Whistler 

Thursday. Sept. 30th..  Oct. 12th..  1848. St. Petersburg, W364; Anna 

Whistler to James Whistler Friday evening Oct. 20th..  1848, W365; 
George W. Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Oct. 
27/Nov. 8 1848, W659; Anna Whistler to James Whistler 

St. Petersburg. Sunday night Nov. 5th 1848, W367; Anna 
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Whistler to James Whistler In the drawing room, with Willie on 

sofa Friday 22nd Dec 1848, W374). 

94. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

95. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848. 

96. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848. 

97.  Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1 st..  1848. The whereabouts of this drawing are 
unknown. MacDonald does not record it in Catalogue Raisonné. It 
would seem to have been executed in 1848. Its biblical subject is 
taken from 1 Samuel 28 (James Hall, Dictionary of Subjects and 
Symbols in Art [London: John Murray, 1974], p. 343). 

98. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, [St. Petersburg] Friday evening 

Oct. 20th.. , 1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W365. 

99. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg November 1st..  
1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

100. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg November 1st..  
1848. 

101. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg November 1st..  
1848. In 1841, the American portrait painter John Goffe Rand 
(1801–1873), living in London, invented the paint tube. “Made 
from tin and sealed with a screw cap,” it replaced the accident-
prone pig’s bladder for storing paint. Its portability freed painters 
from confinement to their studios. It also introduced “dazzling 
new paint pigments such as chrome yellow and emerald green – 
that had been invented by industrial chemists” (Perry Hurt, 
“Color App,” Smithsonian Magazine 44, no. 2 [May 2013]: p. 20). 

102. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg. Dec. 4th..  1848. 
Monday Evening, GUL: Whistler Collection, W370. 

103. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

104. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St Petersburg. Sunday night. 

Nov. 5th..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W367. 
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105. William Whistler to James Whistler St.. Petersburg Monday Oct. 2 
[1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W974. 

106. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Dec. 4th..  1848. 
Monday Evening, GUL: Whistler Collection, W370. 

107. Anna Whistler to James Whistler [St. Petersburg] Tuesday 

morning Dec 12th..  [1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W372. 

108. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Dec. 4th..  1848. 
Monday Evening, GUL: Whistler Collection, W370. 

109. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg, Dec. 4th..  1848; 
Anna Whistler to James Whistler [St. Petersburg. December 25 
and 26, 1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W375 and W376; James 
Whistler to George W. Whistler [London] Friday even. January 
26 [1849], GUL: Whistler Collection, W661. 

110. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1 st..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366; Anna 
Whistler to James Whistler [St. Petersburg. December 25 and 26, 
1848], GUL: Whistler Collection, W375 and W376. 

111. Anna Whistler to James Whistler [St. Petersburg] Thursday 
3/15th Feb. [1849], GUL: Whistler Collection, W382. 

112. William Whistler to James Whistler St.  Petersbourg 10 th..  May 
1849, GUL: Whistler Collection, W978. 

113. William Whistler to James Whistler S t.  Petersbourg 10 th..  May 
1849. 

114. William Whistler to James Whistler S t.  Petersbourg 10 th..  May 
1849. 

115. Although the Whistlers lost touch with Koritskii, mention of 
James’s attachment to him came up again in September 1852, 
when Koritskii’s name appeared for the last time in Anna 
Whistler’s extant letters. Writing to her 18-year-old son at West 
Point, she expressed the hope that he would enjoy his drawing 
lessons there and feel similar affection for “the American artist” 
– probably his professor of drawing, Robert W. Weir (1803–

1889) – “as you loved Karitzkie and M r..  Boxall so ardently” 
(Anna Whistler to James Whistler, Scarsdale, 3 Sept. 1852, GUL: 
Whistler Collection, W413). Weir “had succeeded Charles Robert 
Leslie in 1834” (Lochnan, Etchings, p. 11). 
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116. Pennell and Pennell, Whistler Journal, p. 22; Elizabeth R. Pennell, 
Whistler the Friend (Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott, 1930), pp. 130–
131. 

117. Shtukenberg, Memuary, vol. 1, pp. 127–129. See also F.F. L’vov, 
“Obshchestvo pooshchreniia khudozhnikov v 1850–1862 gg.” 
[“The Society for the Encouragement of Artists in 1850–1862”], 
Russkaia starina (August 1881): p. 635. 

118. Pennell and Pennell, Life of Whistler, vol. 1, p. 233. The Pennells 
also mention that he spoke of “my Russian cradle” (Pennell and 
Pennell, Whistler Journal, pp. 180–181). 

119. Gosudarstvennyi Russkii muzei Otdel rukopisei [State Russian 
Museum Manuscript Division], St. Petersburg (hereafter, GRM 
OR): Fond 22, d. 37. Fond Zheleznova Mikhaila Ivanovicha 
Kratkie zapisi Koritskogo A.O. (uchenik K.P. Briullova) o zhizni 
i rabotakh K.P. Briullova 1843–1847 [Collection of M.I. 
Zheleznov. Brief notes by A.O. Koritskii (pupil of K.P. Briullov) 
about the life and works of K.P. Briullov 1843–1847] (hereafter, 
GRM OR: Koritskii, Zapisi), fol. 22v. The photocopy of this page 
in my possession is clearly marked 23 in the upper right-hand 
corner, but the archivist wrote “f. 22v” on it when identifying the 
file. I am inclined to think that the sitter was James, because Anna 
Whistler recorded on 11/23 January 1847 that “Jemie often had 
crossed on the ice to the Academy of Fine Arts to spend an hour 
or two of the early part of the day in the study of his drawing 

master” (entry for January 1847 / Saturday 23rd..  of our style being 

11th..  of Russian style, NYPL: AWPD, Part II). In other words, 
there is a period of twelve days between Koritskii’s entry and 
Anna Whistler’s (between 11 January and 23 January NS), during 
which James often went to the Academy. It is, of course, likely 
that he was going to work with Koritskii, but he could have been 
sitting for his portrait (whereabouts unknown) as well. Willie 
Whistler spent at least two mornings sitting to Koritskii for his 
portrait (whereabouts unknown) in March 1847 (entry for 

Wednesday March 23rd..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part II). Major 
Whistler was sitting for his portrait (whereabouts unknown) to 
someone unidentified, but that was in May 1848 (entries for 19 
May [1848] and 22 May [1848], NYPL: AWPD, Part II). All of 
this, I believe, makes James the likely candidate for “the 
American.” 

  Koritskii’s diary does not specifically indicate whether “the 
American” was present when he was painting the portrait, but he 
was working on it in the same room as a fellow student, Faddei 
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Antonovich Goretskii (1825–1868; see Image 185), and Briullov, 
so they knew who the subject was (Dec. 30 (OS) [1846] [Jan. 11 
(NS) 1847], GRM OR: Koritskii, Zapisi). 

120. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg, Wednesday 
November 1st, 1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

121. William Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg, 8 Dec. [18]48, 
GUL: Whistler Collection, W976. 

122. Entry for August 12/24th..  Monday [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part 
II. 

123. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, Stonington, Wednesday Aug. 

27th..  [18]51, GUL: Whistler Collection, W395. 
  Briullov strove for what he called “effect” in some of his 

portraits of women, a reference to his deliberate exaggeration of 
colors (N.M. Moleva, Vydaiushchiesia russkie khudozhniki-pedagogi 
[Outstanding Russian Artist-Teachers] [Moscow: s.n., [1962]], p. 19). 
It is not possible to say specifically which of his portraits Anna 
Whistler had in mind, but an outstanding example of “effect” 
(which was not in his studio) is his Portrait of Countess Iu. P. 
Samoilova with Her Adopted Daughter, Giovanina Pacini, and a 
Blackamoor (Portret gr. Iu. P. Samoilovoi s vospitannitsei Dzhovaninoi 
Pacini i arapchonkom) (1832–34), in which shades of red 
predominate (see Image 206). Behind Samoilova is a red velvet 
drapery, and the shawl grasped by the blackamoor before it slips 
off her arm is red, as are the edging of his garment, the flower 
design in the rug, the cloth covering the walls, and the upholstery 
of the couch. Surrounded by fire, Samoilova, with an arm around 
Giovanina’s shoulder, sails into the room, an ethereal being in 
sky-blue shot silk, which echoes the blue of the heavens visible 
behind her through a door onto a balcony (G.K. Leontieva, Karl 
Pavlovich Briullov [Leningrad: Khudozhnik RSFSR, 1986], pp. 22–
25, 183; M. Rakova, “K.P. Briullov – portretist” [“K.P. Briullov, 
Portrait Painter”], in Ocherki po istorii russkogo portreta pervoi poloviny 
XIX veka [Studies in the History of the Russian Portrait in the First Half 
of the XIX Century] (Moscow: Iskusstvo, 1966), p. 185).  

124. L’vov, “Obshchestvo pooshchreniia,” p. 634. 

125. Elizabeth Rigby (see Image 190) describes in her memoirs of 
Russia and Estonia her visit to Briullov’s studio and apartment as 
well as to other artists’ studios (Rigby, Baltic Letters, vol. 2, letter 
25, pp. 271–272). 
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126. Anna Whistler to James Whistler St. Petersburg Wednesday 

November 1st..  1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

127. Grech, Ves’ Peterburg 1851, p. 7. 

128. This and the previous quotations in this paragraph are from the 

entry for Saturday. May 2nd..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

129. Ukazatel’ khudozhestvennykh proizvedenii, vystavlennykh v zalakh 
Imperatorskoi Akademii khudozhestv [Index of the Works of Art 
Exhibited in the Salons of the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts] 
(St. Petersburg: Imperatorskaia Akademiia Nauk, 1846), p. 18. 

130. Entry for Saturday Sept. 20th..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. The 
date should be the 19th. 

131. Entry for Saturday. May 2nd..  [1846], NYPL: AWPD, Part II. The 
Brass Serpent was in the permanent collection of the Academy. 
Bruni’s biography and a discussion of reactions to this painting 
can be found in Notes 328 and 329 in NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

132. Entry for Wednesday, March 23rd..  [1847], NYPL: AWPD, Part 
II. Wednesday was 24 March. Aivazovskii’s biography and further 
information concerning this exhibit can be found in Notes 714–
716 in NYPL: AWPD, Part II. 

133. Entry for Wednesday March 23rd..  [1847]. 

134. Entry for Wednesday March 23rd..  [1847]. 

135. James Whistler to George Whistler 62 Sloane St, entry for 
Saturday evening 27th in letter of Friday even Jan. 26. (1849), 
GUL: Whistler Collection, W661. 

136. The Hermitage at the time of the Whistlers’ sojourn in 
St. Petersburg consisted of “the Hermitage proper (or little 
Hermitage), which stands beside [the Winter Palace and was] built 
to the designs of Vallin de la Mothe in 1769; the Old or Great 
Hermitage, completed in 1787 by Felten for the express purpose 
of housing the rapidly expanding collection of pictures; the 
theater designed (also in 1787) by Quarenghi, erected on the site 
of Peter the Great’s Winter Palace and joined to Felten’s building 
by a gallery running over the Winter Canal.” (Boris Piotrovsky, 
The Hermitage: Its History and Collections [New York: Harcourt, 
Brace, Jovanovich, [1982]], p. 15). The plans for a fourth building, 
the New Hermitage, designed by Leo von Klenze (1784–1864), 
were approved by Nicholas I in 1842 (V.F. Levinson-Lessing, 
Istoriia Kartinnoi galerei Ermitazha 1764–1917 [A History of the Picture 
Gallery of the Hermitage 1764–1917] [Leningrad: Iskusstvo, 1985], 
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p. 9). The New Hermitage was in the process of being built 
throughout the remainder of the 1840s. It was completed in 1851 
and opened in 1852 as a public museum (Levinson-Lessing, 
Istoriia Kartinnoi galerei Ermitazha, p. 10). An 1846 guide to 
St. Petersburg explained that “at present the greater part of the 
Hermitage is undergoing reconstruction and only those rooms 
from the previous building which face toward the Neva facade 
have been preserved,” but it was possible to view them (Aleksei 
Grech, comp., Ves’ Peterburg v karmane: Spravochnaia kniga dlia 
stolichnykh zhitelei i priezzhikh, s planami Sanktpeterburga i chetyrekh 
teatrov [All of Petersburg in Your Pocket: A Handbook for Inhabitants of 
and Visitors to the Capital, with plans of St. Petersburg and four theaters, 
1st ed. (St. Petersburg: N. Grech, 1846) (hereafter, Grech, Ves’ 
Peterburg 1846), p. 94; see also Ivan Pushkarev, Istoricheskii ukazatel’ 
dostopamiatnostei Sankt-Peterburga [Historical Index to Memorable 
St. Petersburg Sights] (St. Petersburg: Konrad Vingeber, 1846), 
p. 118). James and Willie were too young to visit the Hermitage 
in 1843. 

  It also has to be remembered that when the Whistlers were 
in St. Petersburg, the Hermitage was not a separate institution 
with its own director, but “a continuation of the Winter Palace” 
and the property of the Imperial family (Levinson-Lessing, Istoriia 
Kartinnoi galerei Èrmitazha, pp. 8, 130). As such, access to it on the 
part of the public was limited (Levinson-Lessing, pp. 9, 129). It 
was not until the 1860s that it attained a certain independence 
from the Court administration, and in 1863 it was permitted to 
have its own director (Levinson-Lessing, pp. 10–11). 

137. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg Wednesday 
November 1st. 1848, GUL: Whistler Collection, W366. 

138. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, St. Petersburg Wednesday 
November 1st. 1848. 

139. Anna Whistler to James Whistler, On board the steamer “City of 
Aberdeen,” Friday noon Sept. 15th [1848], GUL: Whistler 
Collection, W359. 

140. Up until the 1990s ,the name of the artist was misread as Fiefster. 
The closest approximation to Fiessler in Russia is Fessler: e.g., an 
Adolf Fessler was a pupil of Konstantin Aivazovskii, Russian 
marine painter (Amburger Datenbank, Osteuropa Institut 
München/Historische Abteilung [Munich, Germany] [hereafter, 
Amburger Datenbank], ID 17303). He, however, seems unlikely 
to have painted James’s portrait. 
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